I. APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

1. The trial court deprived Mr. Cortes Aguilar of due 

process of law when it entered a conviction for first degree murder 

despite a lack of proof beyond a reasonable doubt of premeditation. 

2. The trial court violated the defendant's Article 1, 

Section 22 right to know the nature and cause of the accusation 

against him by allowing the State, after resting, to amend the 

Information to a previously uncharged manner of committing 

assault. 

3. Even if the State should have been permitted to 

amend, the trial court further deprived Mr. Cortes Aguilar of due 

process of law when it entered a conviction for second degree

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The State bears the burden, under the Fourteenth 

Amendment, of proving every essential element of the offense 
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beyond a reasonable doubt. As charged, premeditation was an 

essential element of first degree murder and required the State to 

prove the defendant affirmatively decided to cause the victim's 

death after some period of deliberation. Where the State presented 

no evidence of reflection or planning on the part of the Defendant, 

did the State produce substantial evidence of premeditation 

sufficient to prove it beyond a reasonable doubt? 

2. After resting its case in chief, the State is permitted to 

amend only to a lesser included offense, not an alternate means of 

the offense. Where the State charged the specific intent crime of 

assault in the first degree against a specific victim and rested its 

case, should the State have been permitted to amend to an 

alternate means of committing the entirely different offense of 

second degree assault simply because it was of a lesser 

seriousness level? 

3. The State bears the burden under the Fourteenth 

Amendment of proving every essential element of the offense 

beyond a reasonable doubt. As charged in the Second Amended 

Information, the specific intent to cause bodily harm or to create an 

apprehension of bodily harm was a necessary element of second 

degree assault. Where the State produced no evidence of intent to 
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injure or create apprehension of injury against the named victim, 

was it error to convict the Defendant? 

4. Parenting is a fundamental constitutional right and 

State interference with such rights is subject to strict scrutiny. 

Crime-related prohibitions affecting fundamental rights must be 

narrowly drawn and sensitively imposed so that they are 

reasonably necessary to accomplish the essential needs of the 

State and public order. Did the trial court err by failing to apply the 

reasonably necessary standard in ordering the Defendant to have 

no contact with either of his children for ten years? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On August 21 st, 2011 at approximately 5:00 p.m. Spanish

speaking Wenatchee Police Officer Keith Kellog, along with 

Detective Edgar Reinfeld, interviewed Appellant Sebastian Cortes 

Aguilar regarding the death of his wife, Ortencia Arroyo Alejandre, 

earlier that day. RP 4-9, 221-226. Mr. Cortes allowed Officer 

Kellog to audio tape the interview and was cooperative throughout 

the entire, long process. RP 10,221-226,228-229. 

During the interview, Mr. Cortes told Detective Kellog that 

Ms. Alejandre was holding a knife to peel a cucumber and when he 

voiced his suspicions about her talking to another man on the 
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phone, she became upset and struck out at him with the knife, 

cutting him on the hand. RP 226-227. Mr. Cortes told Officer 

Kellog that Ms. Alejandre threatened to kill him, so he grabbed the 

knife and attacked her to prevent being harmed or killed. RP 227. 

Mr. Cortes told Officer Kellog that he never intended to kill Ms. 

Alejandre. RP 227. He told Officer Kellog that he remembered his 

daughter getting in the middle, but did not remember cutting her 

during that process and that it must have been an accident 

repeatedly saying how "it all happened so fast or really quickly, very 

quickly". RP 227-228. Mr. Cortes repeatedly stated that Ms. 

Alejandre got angry and that it was rapid and she snapped. RP 

234. Officer Kellog discussed that with Mr. Cortes multiple times to 

make sure there was no confusion. RP 234. 

Mr. Cortes' words were not the only evidence to support his 

version of events, Officer Kellog saw cuts to Mr. Cortes' hand and 

shoulder, pointing them out to Detective Reinfeld and 

photographing them. RP 235. Mr. Cortes told Officer Kellog that 

what he did was bad and that he was "not thinking, not thinking." 

RP 238. Mr. Cortes repeatedly indicated that he only intended to 

injure Ms. Alejandre. RP 240. 
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Another eyewitness to testify regarding the events in 

question was Jovani Cortes, the young son of Mr. Cortes and Ms. 

Alejandre. RP 319. Jovani testified that he was in the kitchen and 

heard a bottle break so he went into the living room. RP 321. He 

saw his sister trying to protect their mother so Jovani went to the 

front door to call for help. RP 322. He saw his father get a knife, 

so he went to call 911, heard screaming and that is when his father 

started to stab his mom. RP 322. Jovani testified that he did not 

see his dad go get a knife, but that he had it in his hand. RP 322. 

Janeli Cortes, the 13-year-old daughter of Mr. Cortes and 

Ms. Alejandre was the final eyewitness to testify. RP 328. She 

testified that her parents were arguing loud enough that she heard 

them over the television in the other room. RP 328. When she 

heard a bottle crack, she turned off the television and ran into the 

living room to see her father assaulting her mother with his hands 

and a belt. RP 329. She testified that her father ran into the 

kitchen and immediately returned with a knife. RP 329-330. Janeli 

testified that she got in between her mother and father and that her 

father "started, like, throwing the knife, like, trying to punch her" 

while Janeli tried to stop him. RP 330. In the fray, Janeli testified 

that both she and her mother were cut, but that she did not realize 
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she had been cut at that time. RP 330-331. Janeli testified that Mr. 

Cortes was swinging the knife at her mother but that he never 

swung the knife at her. RP 335. She testified that her father was 

not aiming the knife at her. RP 335. Janeli testified that her father 

then ran away and that she ran to get help. RP 331-332. 

Detective Weatherman was assigned this case, did a 

diagram of the apartment and characterized it as small. RP 337-

340. In fact, every law enforcement officer to testify regarding the 

size of the apartment described it as being small. RP 132, 133, 

161, 176. 

At the close of the State's case in chief, the Defense moved 

to dismiss Count II for lack of evidence that Mr. Cortes' intended to 

assault Janeli Cortes and further argued that because the State 

had chosen to allege intent to assault Janeli Cortes rather than 

intent to assault Ortencia Arroyo Alejandre, the State should not be 

permitted to argue transferred intent or amend the Information to 

conform with the proof. RP 343-347. At that time, the Court 

seemed to agree. RP 350-352. In the afternoon session, however, 

there was significant discussion of transferred intent and the State 

was permitted to amend count II from assault in the first degree 

alleging intent to commit serious bodily harm against Janeli Cortes 
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to assault in the second degree alleging that Mr. Cortes, "with intent 

to commit a felony, did then and there unlawfully, feloniously aM 

intentionally assault(ed) Janeli Cortes Alejandre ... ". (alterations in 

original). RP 364-365. CP 30-31 . The Defense maintained the 

objection and the next day preserved it with an exception to 

allowing the case to go to the jury framed as an assault against 

Janeli Cortes. RP 378. 

On March 9, 2012, the jury found Mr. Cortes guilty of counts 

I and II in the Second Amended Information and found that he was 

armed with a deadly weapon and that he was a member of the 

family or household of both victims. CP 94-98. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

1. THE STATE DID NOT OFFER SUFFICIENT 

EVIDENCE OF PREMEDITATION TO CONVICT MR. CORTES OF 

FIRST DEGREE MURDER 

a. The State was required to prove the elements 

of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. In a criminal 

prosecution, the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause 

requires the State to prove each essential element of the crime 

charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 

U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); In fe 
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Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068,25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). 

Evidence is only sufficient if, when viewed in the light most 

favorable to the prosecution, a rational trier of fact cold have found 

the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 

560 (1979). 

To convict Mr. Cortes of first degree murder, the State was 

required to prove that he acted "with premeditated intent to cause 

the death of another person . . ." RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a). 

Premeditation distinguishes first and second degree murder. State 

v. Brooks, 97 Wn.2d 873, 651 P.2d 217 (1982). 

b. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable 

doubt that Mr. Cortes acted with premeditation. Premeditation must 

involve "more than a moment in point of time," but a mere 

opportunity to deliberate is not sufficient to support a finding of 

premeditation. RCW 9A.32.020(1); State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 

644, 904 P.2d 245, cert denied, 518 U.S. 1026 (1995). Instead, 

premeditation is "the deliberate formation of and reflection upon the 

intent to take a human life" and involves "the mental process of 

thinking beforehand, deliberation, reflection, weighing or reasoning 

for a period of time, however short." Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d at 644 
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(quoting State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 597-98, 888 P.2d 1105, 

cert denied, 516 U.S. 843 (1995}); State v. Ortiz, 119 Wn.2d 294, 

312,831 P.2d 1060 (1992). 

Premeditation may be proved by circumstantial evidence 

where the inferences drawn by the jury are reasonable and the 

evidence supporting the jury's finding is substantial. Pirtle, 127 

W.2d at 643; Gentry, 125 Wn.2d at 597. However, the Supreme 

Court has said 

Having the opportunity to deliberate is not evidence 
the defendant did deliberate, which is necessary for a 
finding of premeditation. Otherwise, any form of 
killing which took more than a moment could result in 
a finding of premeditation, without some additional 
evidence showing reflection. 

State v. Bingham, 105 Wn.2d 820, 826, 719 P.2d 109 (1986). 

An impulsive or spontaneous act at is not premeditated. 

State v. Luoma, 88 Wn.2d 28, 34, 558 P.2d 756 (1977). While 

evidence of a spontaneous act may establish intent, another 

element of murder, it does not establish premeditation for purposes 

of first degree. State v. Bolen, 142 Wash. 653, 666, 254 P. 445 

(1927). The State did not prove that Mr. Cortes premeditated the 

intent to kill his wife. At best, it can be said that arming himself with 

the knife is evidence of the intent to kill her even though he told 
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Officer Kellog that he did not. There was quite simply no evidence 

of premeditation whatsoever. 

In Pirtle, the Supreme Court discussed four characteristics 

which "are particularly relevant to establish premeditation: motive, 

procurement of a weapon, stealth, and the method of killing." Pirtle, 

127 Wn.2d at 644. 

In the instant case, there was no evidence admitted at trial 

that related whatsoever to motive. There was some explanation 

that perhaps Mr. Cortes and Ms. Alejandre were arguing or fighting, 

but that alone is hardly a motive to kill. In fact, quite to the contrary, 

the testimony from Janeli Cortes was that her father had come to 

the house "to have a barbecue with us and so he came and - well, 

we were going to start and then it went all wrong." RP 328. This is 

a couple that had a long term love relationship and two children that 

were right there. At sentencing, Mr. Cortes repeatedly professed 

his love for his children, any premeditation would certainly have 

sought to commit such a heinous crime away from the children. 

Although there is evidence that Mr. Cortes "ran" to the 

kitchen of a very small apartment in order to procure a weapon, 

there is also evidence that Ms. Alejandre had already procured it 

and cut Mr. Cortes with it twice before he ever had it. Either way, 

10 



the method and timing of the procurement in this case goes to 

intent which element must also be proven. The timing, at best, can 

be said to have given Mr. Cortes the mere opportunity to deliberate 

as the Court described in Bingham, supra, 105 Wn.2d 820 at 826. 

Evidence of opportunity to deliberate is not evidence of the 

deliberation necessary to show premeditation. On the facts of this 

case, there simply is no evidence of deliberation and the evidence 

we do have points, at most, to intent. 

Finally, there was not only no evidence of stealth or 

planning, but ample evidence to the contrary. Rather than planning 

ahead, Mr. Cortes grabbed either the weapon he had already been 

stabbed with or the only one in the apartment. Similarly, he used 

the opposite of stealth by engaging in a loud fight in a small 

suburban apartment with broken bottles and screaming running out 

the door and fleeing immediately thereafter. RP 309-312. 

A conviction of first degree murder requires the State to 

provide substantial evidence of premeditation and prove, beyond a 

reasonable doubt, the premeditated intent to commit the act 

causing death. Here, there simply was none and the jury's decision 

can only have been based on the understandable emotion that 

must have flown from watching these poor children testify regarding 
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the senseless and spontaneous loss of their mother at the hands of 

their father. 

c. On the facts of this case, the Court must 

reverse Mr. Cortes' conviction for first degree murder but may 

either remand for resentencing on the lesser included offense of 

second degree murder, remand for a new trial or take any other 

action deemed just. The absence of proof beyond a reasonable 

doubt of an element requires a dismissal of the conviction and 

charge. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979); State v. 

Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). In Green, the 

Supreme Court wrote that in order for a case to be remanded for 

resentencing on a lesser included offense, the jury must have been 

instructed on that offense and the jury must have necessarily found 

each element of that lesser included offense. Green, 94 Wn.2d at 

234-35. In State v. Gilbert, the Court of Appeals for Division I 

called that dicta and declined to follow it. State v. Gilbert, 68 

Wn.App. 379, 842 P.2d 1029 (1993). But the Supreme Court 

recently abrogated Gilbert's ruling in In re Heidari, 174 Wn.2d 288, 

274 P.3d 366 (2012) and upheld its ruling in Green. 

"[T]he appellate court may reverse, affirm or modify the 

decision being reviewed and take any other action as the merits of 
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the case and the interests of justice may require." RAP 12.2. In 

the case at bar, Appellant submits that the interests of justice 

support simply vacating the conviction for failure of proof. As 

argued below, the State chose to charge first degree murder and 

first degree assault when the facts supported only charges of 

second degree murder and second degree assault on transferred 

intent. Mr. Cortes has been through a trial, jeopardy has attached, 

he has been convicted on insufficient evidence and we now know 

that the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law. Even though 

the jury was instructed on the lesser included offense of second 

degree murder, it was also instructed on first degree manslaughter 

and based on the clear error, it cannot easily be said what essential 

elements they found and which they would have unanimously 

agreed upon. The burden of this failure belongs to the State and it 

is therefore simply unjust to give them another bite at the apple. 

2. IT WAS ERROR TO PERMIT THE STATE TO 

AMEND TO AN ALTERNATIVE THEORY OF ASSAULT AT THE 

CLOSE OF ITS CASE IN CHIEF EVEN THOUGH IT AMENDED 

TO A LOWER SERIOUSNESS LEVEL OF ASSAULT, BUT EVEN 

IF THIS AMENDMENT WAS PROPER, THE STATE FAILED TO 
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PROVE THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF INTENT AS REQUIRED 

IN THE SECOND AMENDED INFORMATION AS DRAFTED 

By way of overview, what happened here is that the State 

had Mr. Cortes charged all along with first degree assault for the 

cut to Janeli Cortes' arm by alleging that he intended to inflict great 

bodily harm upon her and thereby intentionally assaulted her. After 

the State rested, the Defense moved to dismiss count II against 

Janeli Cortes offering as his stronger argument that there was no 

evidence of Mr. Cortes' intent to assault his daughter, only his wife 

who he was not accused of assaulting in count II. The State 

responded by saying that is what they meant, that he intended to 

assault his wife and that intent then transferred to Janeli, who was 

cut in the fray. Ultimately the Court was persuaded to permit the 

amendment, but the State then again failed to properly charge Mr. 

Cortes with the intent to assault his wife and again charged him 

with the intent to assault his daughter in a different manner than he 

was originally accused of assaulting her. Had the State amended 

at that time to allege that Mr. Cortes was in the process of 

committing a felony assault on his wife and accidentally caused 

injury to his daughter, the intent would have properly transferred, 

but they did not. Mr. Cortes' conviction on count II must now be 
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vacated for two reasons. First, because the State amended the 

information to charge a different crime after resting its case in chief. 

Second, because it failed to prove an essential element of the 

amended charge, to wit: the intent to assault Janeli Cortes. 

Article 1, Secton 22 of the Washington State Constitution 

enumerates the Rights of the Accused in a criminal prosecution and 

provides for the accused to know the nature and cause of the 

accusation against him. 

Two weeks before the Defense argued the point to the trial 

court, this Court held that, "After the State rests its case-in-chief, it 

cannot amend the information to charge a different or greater 

crime, or add an essential element of the crime. State v. Kirwin, 

166 Wn.App. 659, 271 P.3d 310 (Div. III, 2012)(citing State v. 

Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 789-91, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995)). In 

Kirwin, the State charged one of the three alternative ways to 

commit the crime of custodial interference under RCW 9A.40.060 

but proved another. Despite the fact that the to-convict instruction 

properly described the crimes that were proven, they did not 

describe the crime that was charged in the information. Kirwin, 166 

Wn.App. at 663-64. 
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In the case of Mr. Cortes, the error in the proceedings were 

worse and the State failed repeatedly to cure the mistake. Here, 

the wrong victim was alleged throughout the State's prosecution. 

Had the State alleged an assault on Ms. Alejandre, it is difficult to 

see how the doctrine of transferred intent would not apply. See, for 

example, State v. Wilson, 125 Wn.2d 212, 218, 883 P.2d 320 

(1994) (holding that once the intent to assault the intended victim is 

established, it is transferred to any unintended victim); State v. 

Clinton, 25 Wn.App. 400, 606 P.2d 1240 (1980) (citing the great 

weight of common law authority upholding the transferring of intent 

of the defendant to harm one individual to an unintended victim); 

State v. Elmi, 138 Wn.App. 306, 156 P.3d 281 (2007) (holding that 

once intent against the victim is proven, that intent can be 

transferred to the unintended victims regardless of the defendant's 

knowledge of their presence). The State cited to and argued the 

law of transferred intent from both Wilson and Elmi, but 

nevertheless continued to identify the wrong victim. 

One need look no further than the form of the Second 

Amended Information itself to see the confusion which was taking 

place at the trial court level. RP 365, CP 78. On the Second 

Amended Information, the Court crossed out an essential element 

16 



of the crime charged; that of intent to assault Janeli Cortes. It is 

clear from a comparison of the full reading of the Second Amended 

Information during Mr. Cortes' arraignment at RP 365 and the 

grammatically incorrect and improperly altered charging document 

itself that nobody knew what was going on. But the State enjoys 

the choice of how to plead their case along with the burden of 

proving what they chose to plead. Mr. Cortes is indigent, RP 177-

178, and doesn't even speak English. He cannot be held to 

account for the State's mistake. 

Because the State sought to change the victim and allege 

transferred intent, they were seeking to fundamentally change the 

charge against Mr. Cortes. This issue was thereafter rendered 

moot, however, because the State failed to make the necessary 

change and instead alleged an entirely different crime of felony 

second degree assault against a victim there was no evidence Mr. 

Cortes intended to assault. 

Unlike the facts in Kirwin, the State here presented 

insufficient evidence of the offense described in the Second

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