FILED
November 19, 2012
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 30738-7-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

SEBASTIAN CORTES AGUILAR,
Defendant/Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Douglas J. Shae WSBA #17942
Chelan County Prosecuting Attorney

Chelan County Prosecuting Attorney's Office
P.O. Box 2596
Wenatchee, Washington 98807-2596
(509) 667-6204

I. FACTS

A jury trial was held on March 7, 2012, before the Honorable John E. Bridges in Chelan County Superior Court in the matter of State of Washington v. Sebastian Cortes Aguilar, Chelan County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-00340-1. The defendant now appeals his convictions of Murder in the First Degree and Assault in the Second Degree-Domestic Violence.

Testifying in this case first was Dr. Jonathan Kim, an emergency medicine physician. RP 120, In. 8-10. Dr. Kim testified that he treated a stab wound to a 13-year-old girl on the 21st of August, 2011. RP 120, In. 22-24. He testified that when he observed her, she was tearful and emotional. RP 122, In. 11. Also, that she made a statement that her father had become drunk and had slit her mother's throat and that he had done this because he thought her mother had been cheating on him, and she was also cut in the process of trying to hold her mother after the event. RP 122, In. 18-23. Her wound was a deep wound and serious. RP 123, In. 22-25; RP 124, In. 1-2. Dr. Kim further believed that the wound occurred from a knife which was medically consistent with what he saw. RP 125, In. 12-16.

Next testifying was Detective Sergeant John Kruse of the Wenatchee Police Department. RP 126, In. 22-24. Detective Kruse indicated that he received a call from dispatch that there had been a stabbing within the Wenatchee city limits at 830 Methow Street and that there was a deceased female. RP 127, In. 12-16. He further testified that at the crime scene they found one of the victim's children, a 7-year-old son Jovani, and learned that the 13-year-old daughter was being treated at the hospital. RP 128, In. 6-7; 13-15. Eventually, the defendant, Mr. Aguilar Cortes, was located in East Wenatchee by police officers. RP 129, In. 11-12.

Detective Kruse described the scene as a basement apartment to which Ortencia and her children had just moved. RP 130, In. 8-9; RP 132, In. 9. There was quite a bit of blood at the top of the stairs and more blood as you moved down the stairs. Inside the doorway, he could see Ortencia, the deceased female, lying on the floor of the residence. A few feet from the doorway, but right near the doorway itself, was a black-handled knife. RP 131, In. 11-17. There was a long room, but only in relationship to the rest of the residence. It was a fairly small living area, but there was one long sort of living room that was down there. RP 132, In. 2-5. They had a TV and some other items, but no furniture. RP 132, In.

7-8. There was a large amount of blood spatter on the doorway and also on the walls. RP 132, In. 17-19. To the left of the front door was a bedroom. RP 132, In. 19-20. Standing in the main room, again as you moved to the back where the staircase door is, to the left there is a laundry room and next to that is the kitchen. Just off the kitchen is a small bathroom. RP 133, In. 1-8.

The murder weapon was the only sharp knife found in the residence. RP 134, In. 10-15. There was blood found in the general area of Ortencia and also a clump of hair. RP 137, In. 5-6. Fingernails were also found in the area. RP 136, In. 20-21; RP 137, In. 11. Detective Kruse further testified that he took pictures of the house and he testified about Ortencia's wounds. He identified a laceration on the deceased victim's upper left arm, another laceration on her shoulder area of her left arm, two lacerations above the nipple on the right side and whatever wounds that were on her neck were covered by bandaging done by the paramedics when they got there. There was also some sort of marks on her head near her chin, but it wasn't immediately obvious what kind of injuries those were; just that they were injuries. The other ones appeared to be knife marks. RP 147, In. 13-25; RP 148, In. 1. Detective Kruse further indicated there was a broken

top of a Modelo beer bottle that was found inside the main living room as well. RP 148, In. 21-22. A twenty-year veteran, Detective Kruse also testified he had never seen so much blood in such a confined space. RP 131, In. 20-22.

Officer Jared Reinfeld of the Wenatchee Police Department also testified. RP 159, In. 5-8. Officer Reinfeld testified that he and Deputy Jason Mathews arrived at the scene at approximately the same time. RP 160, In. 8-10. He testified that when he exited his car and could hear screaming from a young girl, Janeli Cortes, as she was identified, who came up out of the stairs of the basement where the home was located. RP 160, In. 15-20. She was screaming and she was covered in blood. Her clothes were soaked in blood, her hair was bloody, her arms were covered in blood, basically from head to toe. RP 160, In. 21-24. She then ran back. RP 161, In. 1-2. As Officer Reinfeld entered the room, Janeli Cortes was sitting on the floor holding the victim in her lap. RP 161, In. 7-9. As the officers checked the room to find if anybody else was there, Officer Reinfeld went back to Janeli who was screaming, "My mom is dead" and he held her arms and asked her, "Who did this?" and she responded by saying, "My dad killed my mom." RP 162, In. 1-9. The officer eventually identified that

Janeli had also been hurt. He could see a large cut in her left arm about a half inch to an inch wide open in the forearm. RP 163, In. 1-8. Sebastian Aguilar Cortes' vehicle was located later that day, identified as a white Toyota, in East Wenatchee off of Kentucky Street. RP 179, In. 11-19.

Officer John Matney of the Wenatchee Police Department responded to the scene, which he described as "ghastly" and "utter horror." RP 182, In. 20. Officer Matney was sent to be with the 13-year-old girl at the hospital and collected her clothing, as well as took photographs of her arm which showed the deep laceration on her left forearm. RP 183, In. 12-25. He spoke with her about what happened and referenced her demeanor as sobbing, crying very hard, very upset, and she made a statement as to what occurred. Janeli said that "My father was drunk and he killed my mother." RP 184, In. 1-14. She gave her father's name and a description of the car he was driving and the license plate of the car. She further gave some names and addresses of some relatives that she thought her father might go to. RP 185, In. 15-19.

Aaron Jacobs, an EMT with Lifeline Ambulance testified. RP 192, In. 1-5. He indicated that he entered the basement and noticed blood on the stairwell, there was blood scattered

throughout the room, and turning to the left there was a patient lying in the corner with her daughter at that point who was clinging on to her and crying hysterically. Both the patient and the daughter were covered with blood from head to toe, as was the corner and walls in the room that pretty much from floor to ceiling had blood on them. RP 195, In. 1-8. They initiated basic life support with CPR; one individual attending to her major injuries with trauma dressing, and they put her on a cardiac monitor and tried to intubate her. RP 195, In. 15-19. Mr. Jacobs described the injuries to the victim. He indicated that the primary wound that they were treating was a large laceration across the entire anterior aspect of her neck. They made note of other multiple puncture wounds: there was a large one on her cheek that was the full length from the corner of her mouth down to the bottom of her jaw, as well as other multiple puncture wounds throughout her body. RP 196; In. 17-23. She was pronounced dead with the assistance of a doctor to pronounce death. RP 197, In. 9-13.

Also testifying was Johnny Rebel, a paramedic with Lifeline Ambulance. RP 198, In. 16-18. Mr. Rebel's focused attention on Janeli, the daughter of the murder victim. RP 200, In. 17-20.

Others had bandaged her wounds and he took her to the hospital.
RP 201, In. 9-14.

Next testifying was Mariah Low who worked as a forensic scientist with the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab. RP 204, In. 18-22. She is trained to do DNA analysis. RP 205, In. 24-25. The blood on the shirt of Sebastian Cortes Aguilar matched the blood of Ortencia Alejandre Arroyo, the victim in the murder case. RP 210, In. 1-7. Also a swab of blood was taken from the vehicle hood that was identified as the vehicle Sebastian Cortes Aguilar had been driving, and the swabbed blood also matched the blood of Ortencia Alejandre Arroyo. RP 210, In. 8-16. Mariah Low also received a swab from the vehicle's driver's seat that was mixed in origin, meaning more than one person contributed to the profile. She was able to identify that she had a mixture of two females; one of the females was Ortencia Alejandre Arroyo. RP 210, In. 17-23. Another item tested was the right sandal of the defendant and it was also consistent with the DNA of Ortencia Alejandre Arroyo. The blood from the knife found at the scene also matched the dead victim. RP 211, In. 13-21. Further, a blood swab from the front door was tested, and it was again a mixture of blood consistent with two females; Ortencia Alejandre Arroyo was identified as one of

those individuals. RP 211; In. 22-25. The last item tested was a swab from the driveway which was consistent with blood that was a mixture of two individuals, one female and one male. The female one was a major component and it matched Ortencia Alejandre Arroyo. RP 212, In. 5-12.

Deputy Bo Allen from the Douglas County Sheriff's Department also testified. RP 215, In. 18-20. He is a patrol deputy who found the defendant's foot sticking out of a plant behind a house in East Wenatchee. As he pushed the plant back, they saw a body and a face and someone said, "That's him, that's the guy." It turned out to be the defendant, Sebastian Cortes Aguilar. He was taken into custody. RP 217, In. 15-18; RP 218, In. 14-22. They also found his sandals. RP 218, In. 25; RP 219, In. 1-6.

Keith Kellogg testified as a member of the Wenatchee Police Department and that he was called to assist with translation. RP 222, In. 1-8. Officer Kellogg testified that Mr. Cortes Aguilar was cooperative with him and that Mr. Cortes Aguilar indicated he had an intention to stab Ortencia in the throat. RP 227, In. 19-20. Further, that Mr. Cortes Aguilar did admit to being the person who had killed his wife. RP 229, In. 6-7. Mr. Cortes Aguilar further indicated that he accidentally cut his daughter's arm, because he

did not cut her on purpose. RP 228, In 2-5. Officer Kellogg testified that the defendant showed no remorse during the police interview. RP 239, In. 19-21. Officer Kellogg also testified the defendant knew he had stabbed his wife multiple times. RP 241, In. 5-9; RP 243, In. 22-23.

Next testifying was Edgar Reinfeld, a detective with the Wenatchee Police Department. RP 245, In. 5-7. Detective Reinfeld testified that he had contact with the defendant but also searched the car and took pictures of the vehicle. RP 267, In. 1-15. He also testified that during the course of the interview of the defendant he learned that there had been an argument between the defendant and his wife about his wife talking to another man, or the defendant's perception that his wife had talked to another man. RP 276, In. 20-24. As Reinfeld continued to talk with Mr. Cortes Aguilar about what happened with the actual stabbing of his wife, the defendant said that once he had the knife he had been "cutting at" Ortencia. Reinfeld testified those were the words the defendant used in English; that he had cut her and had been cutting her. RP 277, In. 1-5. Mr. Cortes Aguilar demonstrated with an ink pen that he held the knife a certain way and indicated that his daughter tried to make him stop and had tried to get in the way; he eventually

admitted that he also cut his daughter during the period when he was trying to cut Ortencia. He eventually admitted that he had cut Ortencia in the neck or the throat with the knife. RP 277, In. 6-15. Officer Reinfeld testified that Mr. Cortes Aguilar didn't remember how many times he had cut Ortencia, but he acknowledged that he cut her somewhere in addition to cutting her on the neck. RP 278, In. 1-5. He further acknowledged that he was the one who killed Ortencia and cut Janeli when she was trying to intercede. RP 280, In. 2-10.

Forensic pathologist Dr. Gina Fino also testified. RP 289, In. 5-8. Dr. Fino performed the autopsy for the State of Washington. RP 289, In. 24 to RP 290, In. 2. She testified that Ortencia was approximately 140 pounds and about 4 feet 10 inches tall. RP 290, In. 10-14. It appeared from her evaluation that there were multiple sharp force injuries. Sharp force injuries are a collection of injuries that actually show damage to the tissue by a sharp instrument. RP 291, In. 15-24.

Dr. Fino further testified that the first wound was a penetrating stab wound of the anterior neck. There were other injuries to the neck, but the first wound Dr. Fino described as being a stab wound caused by a knife because it had a single edge to the

blade. The sharp portion of the blade caused the pointed configuration but the flat portion of the blade doesn't cut the skin. RP 294, In. 8-15. This wound actually continued under the collarbone and it appeared to end in the right anterior upper lung lobe so they could actually see a cut mark in the lung. RP 294, In. 21-15; RP 295, In. 1: It was about six inches deep. RP 295, In. 3-6.

The second wound Dr. Fino testified to was a wound to the right upper chest located 48 and a quarter inches above the heel, three and a half inches right of the anterior midline; it was a two-inch curved linear horizontal stab wound. RP 295, In 12-15. This wound left tool marks on the incision of the rib. The depth of this wound was approximately six inches and then it passed from front to back slightly right to left and downward. RP 296, In. 6-8; In. 16-18. Dr. Fino found this to be a penetrating wound. RP 296, In. 20-21. She found that can also be an indication of the force used. RP 297, In. 22-23.

Dr. Fino went on further to describe a stab wound to the right mid-chest. The wound passed through the chest and through the right anterior sixth rib and it completely cut through the rib and continued into the middle portion of the right lung and ended in the

lower lung lobe and caused a half-inch incision to that particular portion of the lung and the bleeding associated with that. This wound was also estimated to be six inches in depth as it passed from front to back. RP 297, In. 25; RP 298, In. 10-19.

The fourth wound was on the left anterior shoulder and was 49 and three-quarter inches from the heel and six inches left of the anterior midline. This wound was also six and a half inches deep. It appeared to end in the left shoulder. RP 299, In. 4-12.

The fifth wound passed through the skin and soft tissues of the posterior shoulder and ended in the left upper back. This wound was three and three-quarter inches deep and passed from back to front. RP 299, In. 15-23. This wound was on the back. RP 300, In. 2.

There were also multiple cuts on the deceased's body. RP 300, In. 6-16. Dr. Fino described an injury to the victim's forehead. It was to the right upper forehead, about three-quarters inches long and has irregular wet edges. The skull in this area showed a one-quarter inch tool mark so the injury was completely through the skin, it made a mark on the skull and a hemorrhage was associated with it. RP 300, In. 20-25.

Dr. Fino also described an injury to the anterior chin as a two-inch long incision that had minimal associated hemorrhage with it. RP 301, In. 3-5.

In addition, Dr. Fino described a two-inch injury to the folds of the neck. RP 301, In. 18-22. She also found defensive wounds. RP 302, In. 6-7. There were injuries to the victim's hands as well as her wrist and forearm. RP 302, In. 20-23; RP 303, In. 2-7.

Dr. Fino concluded her testimony by saying that the mechanism of death in this case, as is most of the time with stab wounds, was bleeding from the stab wounds themselves. In this particular case, there was damage to the lungs and the lungs are considered vital organs. Her conclusion was that the victim died from multiple stab wounds to the neck and the chest. RP 303, In. 17-22.

Jose Barragan testified that he was a neighbor across the street from 830 Methow Street and saw a man with bloody hands come running out of that house who took off in his car quickly in reverse going toward Ferry Street. One or two minutes later he saw a boy or a girl come running out yelling and asking for help as her mom was laying there. They called 911. RP 310, In. 1-2; In. 17-25.

Also testifying was Ms. Daney Gonzalez, a neighbor living with Mr. Barragan, who indicated that she saw a person come outside and it was a man who was bathed in blood. He got into his car, quickly put it into reverse and took off towards the store by Ferry Street. A child came out yelling, "Daddy, don't leave." RP 312, In. 3-5; In. 21-25; RP 313, In. 1-8.

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